

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# **Journal of Integrative Medicine**

journal homepage: www.jcimjournal.com/jim www.journals.elsevier.com/journal-of-integrative-medicine



# Review

# Periconceptional care and offspring health at birth and long term, from the perspective of Avicenna



Mohammad Ansaripour <sup>a</sup>, Mohsen Naseri <sup>b,\*</sup>, Mohammad Mahdi Esfahani <sup>c</sup>, Iraj Nabipour <sup>d</sup>, Fatemeh Rakhshani <sup>e</sup>, Arman Zargaran <sup>f</sup>, Roya Kelishadi <sup>g</sup>

- <sup>a</sup> Department of Iranian Traditional Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Shahed University, Tehran 33191-18651, Iran
- <sup>b</sup> Traditional Medicine Clinical Trial Research Center, Shahed University, Tehran 14179-53836, Iran
- <sup>c</sup> Traditional Medicine Department, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, School of Iranian Traditional Medicine, Tehran 16687-53961, Iran
- <sup>d</sup> The Persian Gulf Biomedical Research Institute, Bushehr University of Medical Sciences, Bushehr 75147-63448, Iran
- e Health Education and Promotion Department, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, School of Public Health, Tehran 19835-35511, Iran
- Department of History of Medicine, School of Traditional Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran 16687-53961, Iran
- <sup>g</sup> Child Growth and Development Research Center, Research Institute for Primordial Prevention of Noncommunicable Disease, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan 81746-73461, Iran

#### ARTICLE INFO

#### Article history: Received 13 September 2018 Accepted 27 December 2018 Available online 11 January 2019

Keywords: Avicenna Epigenetic diseases Healthy lifestyle Offspring health Periconceptional care Persian medicine

#### ABSTRACT

Periconceptional care such as lifestyle plays an important impact role in offspring health. The aim of the present study was to clarify the perspective of Avicenna on periconceptional care. Avicenna (980–1037 A.D.) was one of the outstanding Persian physicians, who made great contributions to the field of medical sciences, in particular, obstetrics. In advance, Avicenna's book, Canon of Medicine, was considered to find his perspectives on periconceptional care. Then, his ideas and theories were compared to the current findings by searching the keywords in main indexing systems including PubMed/MEDLINE, Scopus and Institute for Scientific Information Web of Science as well as the search engine of Google Scholar. Current investigations show that gamete quality, pregnancy outcome, and offspring health at birth and long term depend on both parents' lifestyle in pre- and periconceptional period, as well as the intrauterine environment. Avicenna believed that seminal fluid, sperm, ovum, and developing conditions in utero were influenced by the stages of food digestion and the function of some organs. On the other hand, food digestion and function of the organs also depend on each parent's lifestyle and environmental factors. He mentioned 6 principles of healthy lifestyle: exercise, nutrition, sleep and awareness, excretion of body wastes and retention of necessary materials, psychic features, as well as air and climate. Thus, a multicomponent healthy lifestyle should be considered by parents of child-bearing age in an appropriate period before and in early pregnancy as well as elimination of any disorders in parents, to give birth to more healthy offspring.

Please cite this article as: Ansaripour M, Naseri M, Esfahani MM, Nabipour I, Rakhshani F, Zargaran A, Kelishadi R. Periconceptional care and offspring health at birth and long term, from the perspective of Avicenna. *J Integr Med.* 2019; 17(2): 80–86.

© 2019 Shanghai Changhai Hospital Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

# Contents

1.	Introduction	. 81	
2. Gamete disorders			
	2.1. The general understandings	. 81	
	2.2. The relationship between gamete production and organs function	. 81	
	3. Components of a healthy lifestyle.		

E-mail address: naseri@shahed.ac.ir (M. Naseri).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author.

	3.1.	Exercise/physical activity	. 82		
	3.2.	Nutrition and dietary habits	. 82		
	3.3.	Sleep and awareness	. 83		
	3.4.	Excretion of body wastes and retention of necessary materials	. 83		
	3.5.	Psychological features	. 83		
		Air and climate			
4.	Discus	ssion	84		
5. Conclusion					
	Acknowledgments				
Competing interests					
	Refere	ences	84		

### 1. Introduction

The periconceptional period is associated with future noncommunicable diseases in adulthood [1,2]. In humans, this period consists of about 14 weeks before and 10 weeks after conception, and the essential reproduction processes including gamete production and early embryogenesis occur in this period [3]. Gamete quality, pregnancy outcome, and fetus health depend on both parents' lifestyle in pre- and periconceptional period, as well as the intrauterine environment [1,3–5]. Adulthood diseases including coronary heart disease, hypertension, stroke, type 2 diabetes, and osteoporosis are attributed not only to environmental and genetic factors but also *in utero* conditions [1,6]. It is believed that traditional medicine systems can help to promote various health issues in communities; thus, the World Health Organization intends to integrate traditional medicine into official health systems worldwide [7].

Persian medicine (PM) is one of such traditional medicine systems that focus on lifestyle to maintain health and treat numerous diseases [8–10]. PM has a long history dating back to at least 8000 years ago. Later, in the early medieval period (9th–12th century A.D.), PM became the main medical system in the Islamic civilization with an extension from the border of China to Western Europe, famous scientists and verbal sources in different languages [10,11].

Avicenna (980–1037 A.D.) was one of the outstanding Persian physicians in that era who made great contributions to the field of medical sciences, in particular obstetrics [10]. His great medical encyclopedia, the *Canon of Medicine* [10], was considered as the main medical textbooks in medical universities in the East and West until the 17th century A.D. It was also used in some Western countries like Belgium until the early 20th century A.D. [12]. Although in the current view, the healthy lifestyle basically focuses on nutrition and exercise [13–15], Avicenna mentioned 6 principles for health (called as *Setteh Zarorieh*) as essential topics in lifestyle issues in this book [10,12].

The present study aimed to review the Avicenna's points of view on periconceptional care based on *Canon of Medicine*. Moreover, his ideas were compared to the current findings to evaluate his knowledge on the subject.

Avicenna's birthplace was *Afshaneh*, a village near Bukhara (the capital of Samanid dynasty) in northeast Persia. He was a master of medicine, chemistry, logic, astronomy, and philosophy in the 10th century [16]. At the age of 17, he served as a physician in the court of the king of Bukhara [16]. The *Canon of Medicine*, his great medical book, has 5 volumes. Volume 3 has 3 chapters on urology, obstetrics, and gynecology. He discussed pregnancy, prenatal, and postpartum care in this book [17]. Current investigations show that he has explained correctly contraception recipe [18], prenatal and perinatal care [16], the heart as the first functional organ of fetus [19], as well as definition and treatment of abnormal uterine bleeding with medicinal plants [20] and extraction of placenta after delivery [21], and perineal injury and its surgical treatment [22].

He knew some medicinal plants like *Berberis vulgaris* as an abortive agent [17].

We considered Avicenna's *Canon of Medicine* to find his perspectives on the reproductive system in both male and female, healthy gamete, and healthy lifestyle.

Then, his ideas and theories were compared to the current findings by searching the keywords (exercise, nutrition, sleep, mental health, season, and offspring health with periconceptional period, semen quality, healthy lifestyle, Avicenna, Persian medicine, and traditional medicine) in the main indexing systems including PubMed/MEDLINE, Scopus and Institute for Scientific Information Web of Science as well as the search engine of Google Scholar.

#### 2. Gamete disorders

# 2.1. The general understandings

Avicenna believed that the origin of the genesis of human's body is the male's semen and female's ovum. He mentioned that the health of offspring depends on the health of semen and ovum [23]. Also, in PM, it was believed that the sperm, semen, and ovum could be disordered as a result of inappropriate lifestyle and nutrition [24]. Current findings support Avicenna's beliefs. It is known that the cytological and molecular changes in the process of ovulation, fertilization, and fetal development during the periconceptional period affected by environmental factors, cause potential metabolic abnormalities in developing embryo, and also affects the long-term health of the child [1,25]. These changes, which lead to epigenetic inheritances, are the biologic processes that cause meiotic and mitotic changes in gene description without changing the sequence of deoxyribonucleic acid.

The changes include ubiquitination, and phosphorylation, all of which happen in relation to the environment and are called epimutation. The inheritable components or the potentiality for familial diseases based on nongenetic factors and environmental effects are transferred at the early stage of forming the risks of diseases. This nongenetic alteration in phenotype is a response to environmental factors [6].

The increased risk of developing type 2 diabetes, brain stroke, and osteoporosis in adulthood is considered as a result of mother's malnutrition or impediment in placenta, and rapid environmental changes resulting from improvement of social and economic factors. These changes can be seen in more than one generation. The role of epigenetic processes is identified in the early stages of some forms of cancers [6,26,27].

# 2.2. The relationship between gamete production and organs function

Avicenna described four stages and levels affecting the food in the body, which was called "Hazm"; it means digestion and it is similar to the concept of metabolism. These stages were gastric, hepatic, vascular, and organic stages. It was believed that the first stage is gastric digestion. Also, humors (yellow and black bile, phlegm, and blood) are produced during the second stage. Then, humors are consumed by the organs of the body. All these four stages have a longitudinal relationship with each other and emerge one by one [23]. Avicenna believed semen (*mani*) is one of the products in the fourth stage (organic) [17]. He noticed to pay attention to the gastric stage, in order to have healthy semen alongside good nutrition. If there is a poor function of the gastrointestinal tract, the stages of digestion will be impaired, even with suitable nutrition. Avicenna believed that correct function of all organs of the body depends on the healthy lifestyle [23].

# 3. Components of a healthy lifestyle

In PM, health maintenance is dependent on the 6 essential factors as described in Table 1 [9,10,23]. Of these 6 factors, exercising, nutrition, and sleep are of utmost importance [23].

Avicenna believed that all of the reactions in the body, especially the changing stages of food, are under the influence of these factors. Consequently, the functions and quality of the end products of organs like seminal fluid, sperm, and ovum are affected by these 6 essential factors [23].

# 3.1. Exercise/physical activity

There seems to be no need to explain the importance of exercise and diet in the current scientific era, but it is worth mentioning that in PM, enough exercise was defined as starting to sweat, and tachypnea without feeling exhausted. In terms of intensity and duration, moderate exercise stimulates heat in the body [23]. It seems that elevating heat improves food digestion process and other stages of food metabolism in the body.

Avicenna mentioned that moderate exercise could prevent some diseases by excreting of body wastes and facilitating food digestion. It makes the body agile. Good digestion leads to a lower accumulation of waste matters in the body [23,28]. The best time for exercise is after evacuating urine and feces and before eating [23].

Excretion of body wastes and proper gastric digestion also make a hepatic and cellular function or metabolism to operate much better [29], and in turn improve the quality of the end products of the fourth stage of food metabolisms like hormones, enzymes, seminal fluid, sperm, and ovum.

In recent studies, the potential benefits of regular exercising on health include blood pressure reduction, a decreased risk of cardio-vascular diseases, body weight management, improved insulin sensitivity and glucose metabolism, reduced oxidative stress, decreased concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines and C-reactive protein in peripheral circulation, and improved plasma lipid and lipoprotein profiles [30,31]. These advantages and their positive effects on parents' health may impact fetal development [30]. For example, short-term and long-term effects of physical activity on offspring's health would be the reduction of risk of neural tube defects (NTDs) and improvement of youth academic performance, respectively [30,32].

**Table 1** Healthy lifestyle components in Persian medicine.

Number	Healthy lifestyle factors	Current interpretation
1	Sufficient movement and rest	Physical activity
2	Fit to man use of food and drinks	Nutrition/diet
3	Suitable sleep and wakefulness	Sleep
4	Good ambient air	Weather/climate
5	Excretion of body wastes and retention	Stability of the internal
6	of necessary materials Control of psychological reactions	environment Mental health

#### 3.2. Nutrition and dietary habits

From the perspective of Avicenna, two types of foods are considered. Type one has a nature like human temper of which the consumption is unlimited and the other has a hot, cold, dry and moist nature with a limited consumption due to changing temperament of the body. Examples of food of cold and moist nature are yoghurt and lettuce. Additives like pepper and thyme, and vegetables like mint have a hot and dry nature [23]. Current findings demonstrate that foodstuffs with hot or cold nature have biochemical and physiological effects. These effects include a change in thermogenesis, autonomic nervous system, immune systems, endocrine system, digestive enzymes [33–35], central temperature and energy expenditure [36]. Thus, Avicenna believed that foodstuffs should be selected more from the type one. The most important foods of type one are the meat of young lamb, good-quality bread (prepared from fully fermented flour of whole organic wheat), compatible sweets and also fig and grape as fruits [23].

Red meat especially lean lamb, as a protein with high biological value, provides all essential amino acids, vitamins, and minerals. A balanced diet with moderate amounts of red meat meets the needs for health [37,38].

Bread, specially made from the whole wheat flour, consists of complex carbohydrates, proteins, lipids, fiber, vitamins, minerals, and enzymes as well as antioxidant agents. Bread prepared from fully fermented flour and bran is more nutritious than nonfermented food product and makes the minerals more available to the body due to the reduction of phytic acid levels. Consumption of bread in balanced quantity can provide a significant amount of nutrients for the body. The complex carbohydrates help balance blood glucose levels [39,40].

Fig (Ficus carica L.) as an important source of minerals and vitamins has several biological activities including antibacterial, antiviral, antifungal, antihelminthic, antioxidant, and anticarcinogenic. It can treat constipation [41].

Another fruit that Avicenna has introduced is grape (*Vitis vinifera*) which has a variety of biological properties including antiinflammatory, antioxidant, anticancer, antimicrobial, antiviral, hepatoprotective, cardioprotective, and neuroprotective activities. Polyphenols in grapes have beneficial effects on obesity, metabolic syndrome, and type 2 diabetes. Also, utilization of grape products may lead to cognitive improvements [42,43].

These foodstuffs introduced by Avicenna have beneficial effects on homeostasis which help develop the good conditions *in utero* during the periconceptional period.

Drinking extremely cold water in the wrong time may harm the liver, seminal fluid, and sperm by contracting the canals and vessels, as well as lowering the nourishment of fetus. Before breakfast, and immediately after exercising, bathing, and sexual intercourse are among the wrong times for drinking cold water [17,23]. Parents must consume suitable foods all of the time, especially during the periconceptional period. Suitable foods mean different kinds of food and moderate in amount and nature. Food should be eaten in moderate amount when you feel hungry and should be chewed completely [23].

New findings show that an excess in demand for energy and nutrients occurs during pregnancy because of an increased cellular metabolism, developing concepts, and extending tissues associated with pregnancy and maternal adipose tissue storage. Protein translation, enzymatic reactions, and gene expression regulation need to adjust maternal macronutrient and micronutrient supply, which affect the short-term and long-term health of the child [1,44].

Table 2 shows the nutrient requirements during pregnancy. The baseline estimates of protein vary according to the country but the protein recommended daily allowance of 0.8 g/kg current

**Table 2**Nutrient requirements during pregnancy.

Nutrient	United States, Canada	World Health Organization
Calories (added to baseline, kcal)	340-452	85–475
Protein	Base + 0.3 g/kg current body weight per day	Base + $(0.7-31.2)$ g/d
Fat	-	Polyunsaturated fatty acid 6–11% kcal
Linoleic acid	13 g	Omega-6 2.5-9% kcal
α-Linolenic acid	1.4 g	Omega-3 0.5-2% kcal
Carbohydrate	175 g	55% kcal
Folate (µg)	600	600

body weight per day is recommended during the periconceptional period [45].

Parental malnourishment in the periconceptional period may result in developing obesity, inflammation, glucoregulatory pathways disruption, hypertension, and metabolic syndrome conditions in offspring during aging. Maternal malnourishment can increase the risk of preterm birth, low birth weight, intrauterine growth restriction, iodine deficiency disorders, and NTDs [4,46,47]. Animal studies demonstrate maternal nutrition state can influence blood and reproductive tract metabolite concentrations and fetal development [44]. Maternal obesity can lead to developing gestational diabetes, giving birth to a large infant and preterm delivery [48,49]. Both higher and lower intakes of carbohydrates are problematic. Lower dietary intakes of total carbohydrate, fructose, and linoleic acid are associated with the increased risks of d-transposition of great arteries (dTGA) and higher intakes of the high-glycemic index foods in obese women are associated with the increased risk of NTDs [50,51]. The association between balanced protein energy supplementation during the periconceptional period and the reduction of the incidence of stillbirth and intrauterine growth restriction has been shown. This supplementation has also a positive association with placental and birth weights [5,52]. Animal studies have demonstrated that a low-protein diet during the periconceptional period leads to the adult onset of noncommunicable diseases like hypertension and cardiovascular diseases [5,53].

The Mediterranean dietary pattern (high intakes of vegetables, fruits, rice, olive oil, nuts and fish and low intakes of processed meat) has positive impacts on the fetal growth, quality of embryo, and birth outcomes but the Western dietary pattern (processed meat and high-dairy diet) can increase the risk of being small for gestational age [54]. Lower dietary intake of micronutrients in early pregnancy is associated with an increased risk of adverse birth outcomes. Lower intakes of vitamins A, B12 and E, as well as folate, riboflavin and niacin lead to dTGA, and similarly, lower intakes of zinc, vitamin C and methionine are associated with risks of NTDs [50,51]. Iron deficiency hinders early fetal growth [1] and folate deficiency increases the risk of NTDs [44]. Thiamine, niacin and pyridoxine intake in the periconceptional period may help the prevention of orofacial clefts [55]. During early stages of embryogenesis, both undernutrition and an excess amount of a micronutrient may have a teratogenic effect [1]. Maternal alcohol intake during the early pregnancy has a negative impact on placental weight and can cause developing intrauterine growth restriction in animal models [56].

As mentioned above, beside of adequate micronutrient and macronutrient intake, attention must be paid to proper diet and nutritional habits by parents.

# 3.3. Sleep and awareness

Sleeping during the day is not recommended unless summertime. The sleeping time begins in the evening or early at night and lasts till before sunrise. This way of sleeping improves the digestion of food and *nozj* of body wastes [23]. *Nozj* means the preparation of body wastes for excretion by changing them to a moderate density or viscosity. Excretion of body wastes enhances the heat in the body, which causes higher and better metabolism.

In PM, sleeping reinforces vital force, removes fatigue, and calms individuals psychologically [23]. In recent years, epidemiological evidence suggested that sleep impairment is a known cause of metabolic health, poor glucose control, hyperglycemia, elevated insulin, and diabetes [57].

A six-year follow-up cohort study demonstrated a relationship of trouble sleeping and sleep apnea to diabetes risk, independent of multiple diabetes risk factors, and mental characteristics [58].

Also, a large population-based case control study showed poor sleep during the periconceptional period may significantly increase the risk of NTDs, especially the risk of spina bifida independent of some risk factors of NTDs such as severe stressful life events, flu or fever and sedative use [57].

# 3.4. Excretion of body wastes and retention of necessary materials

The excretion of body wastes, and healing constipation, are also two important factors that should be taken into account, since they are very crucial in preventing the diseases, as well as improving the process of producing gametes, and the pregnancy outcome [23]. Blood is a vital substance, which must be maintained in the body. Hypermenorrhea in women reduces vital force and in turn leads to loss of energy, impairment of gastric digestion, and loss of appetite [17]. On the other hand, pregnancy is associated with increased energy demand and nutrients requirement because it increases cellular metabolism and the rate of growth and development [1]. Since anemia can affect neurochemistry and neurobiology in early life [59], it is necessary to eliminate anemia during the preconceptional period.

#### 3.5. Psychological features

Anger, happiness, pleasure, and fear are examples of psychological states that a lack of moderation in each of them may deteriorate the temperament of the body and lead to disorders and diseases [23]. Stress is associated with decreased testosterone secretion and impaired semen quality [60]. The results of human-based studies demonstrated that psychological stress affects the length of the menstrual cycle, duration, and amount of menstrual bleeding, causes anovulation due to hypothalamic-pituitaryadre nal axis dysfunction, and increases the levels of corticotropin-releasing hormone and glucocorticoids [61].

#### 3.6. Air and climate

Air strengthens vital force, modifies and purifies the human body during inhalation and exhalation. To this effect, the air should be clean and nonpolluted. Climate, as an environmental factor, plays an important role in human body temperament, both positive and negative. Hence, individuals should be protected against extremely hot, cold, dry, and moist weather conditions.

Since gastric digestion is weaker in summer (warm season) compared to winter, the fast-burning foods with cold temperament should be consumed and the amount of food should be reduced [23].

Several studies demonstrated a seasonal pattern of birth weight. Both high and low temperature is associated with low birth weight but it seems cold exposure is more effective. However, it is not clear how temperature affects fetal growth [62]. One study showed that maternal exposure to hot tubs, saunas, or electric

blankets in the early gestational period was associated with NTDs but the associations between NTDs and activities in hot place or in the sun were not significant [63]. Another study demonstrated the birth weight of infants born in the winter was higher than that of infants born during late spring and summer. The investigators suggested that it is the result of exposure to a low temperature of winter during midgestation [64].

According to PM evidence, the present research indicated that the seasonal pattern of fetal growth is dependent on the quality of sperm and ovum. The infants born in the winter are the results of fertilization of gametes in the spring that have been produced in the last winter with a more suitable gastric digestion. It is reversed for the infants born in the summer.

#### 4. Discussion

Health improvement, longevity, and high quality of life are all in relation with being healthy both physically and psychologically. These conditions can be met by reaching a healthy lifestyle or controlling environmental factors [65]. However, it is necessary to have a healthy body from birth to reduce healthcare spending and burdens [1]. In fact, from the viewpoint of Avicenna and new medical sciences, the modification of the parents' lifestyle and the elimination of their diseases are important strategies for reproducing a potent generation. Epigenetic diseases occur due to slight changes in the sperm, ovum or fetus genome and they can be prevented before fertilization [6,25]. There is an increased risk of prematurity and low birth weight, admission to a neonatal unit, perinatal mortality, spontaneous abortion, congenital abnormalities and childhood illness in assisted reproduction specially, with intracytoplasmic sperm injection compared with naturally conceived offspring. Also, the risk of such defects was higher in the infertile couples [66-70]. It shows that abnormality in the ovum and in total count and motility of sperms, as well as chemical and physical conditions of seminal fluid, may lead to offspring morbidity. The frequency of ejaculation, hydration and nutritional state may influence the seminal fluid [17].

Since environmental toxicants such as metals, pesticides, teratogenic, carcinogenic and endocrine disrupting agents excrete to seminal and ovarian follicular fluid [1], parents should avoid these agents in the periconceptional period. In PM, moderate exercise, suitable diet, and sleep were recommended to excrete body wastes and toxic agents from human body [23].

Furthermore, according to PM, attention should be paid to the condition of other organs like the liver, brain, heart, stomach, as well as male and female genitals [71]. In other words, any disorder in sperm and semen is the sign of malfunctioning in one or more organs of the body [17]. New epidemiological studies show a link between semen quality and somatic diseases. Low semen volume, low sperm concentration, impaired sperm motility, low total sperm count, and low total motile sperm count were all associated with higher mortality compared with normal parameters, but abnormal sperm morphology was not associated with higher risk of death. Moreover, as the number of abnormal semen parameters increases, the risk of death rises as well [72]. The etiology of this association is not clear but genetic, hormonal, lifestyle (smoking, alcohol consumption and psychological stress) or in utero factors show a link between fertility and somatic health [73,74]. Follicle-stimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone, inhibin B, testosterone, and free thyroxine levels are associated with semen quality. Lower circulating testosterone levels were reported in infertile men compared with fertile ones and also it was introduced as a risk factor for cardiovascular and respiratory diseases and mortality [75,76]. It shows that diseases and disorders in parents must be eliminated before fertilization as well as reforming their lifestyle. Avicenna believed that severe indigestion reduces the feeding of the fetus [17].

Although, in new medical sciences, guidelines on lifestyle management are predominantly based on nutrition and physical activity to prevent disease [13–15,77], in PM there are four other essential factors that have to be considered.

Another point worth mentioning is that although 14 weeks before and 10 weeks after fertilization is considered as an important period and disorders of different organs of the body should be eliminated to have a healthy periconceptional period, you might need more time before pregnancy. The concepts of PM are derived from the different paradigm of medicine; therefore, we simply clarified them for a better understanding. We stated new issues of health maintenance for parents and in turn new ways to enhance the health level of the new generation.

#### 5. Conclusion

In order to have good short-term and long-term effects on the health of children and to achieve a maximum level of health, parents of childbearing age must have a planned pregnancy and pay attention to multicomponent healthy lifestyle during the periconceptional period, including good ambient air, sufficient movement (physical activity) and rest, suitable sleep and wakefulness, fit to man use of food and drinks, right excretion of body wastes and retention of necessary materials, and control of psychological reactions. Elimination of diseases or disorders emerging in body organs of parents should be considered, which may prolong more than 14 weeks before fertilization.

# Acknowledgments

This article is a part of the thesis entitled "Explanation of healthy lifestyle in traditional Iranian medicine and comparison with the findings of new medical sciences: a comparative review study" which was supported by a grant from Shahed University.

# **Competing interests**

We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

#### References

- [1] Chapin RE, Robbins WA, Schieve LA, Sweeney AM, Tabacova SA, Tomashek KM. Off to a good start: the influence of pre- and periconceptional exposures, parental fertility, and nutrition on children's health. Environ Health Perspect 2004;112(1):69–78.
- [2] Barker D. The developmental origins of adult disease. J Am Coll Nutr 2004;23(6 Suppl.):588S-95S.
- [3] Steegers-Theunissen RP, Twigt J, Pestinger V, Sinclair KD. The periconceptional period, reproduction and long-term health of offspring: the importance of onecarbon metabolism. Hum Reprod Update 2013;19(6):640–55.
- [4] Watkins AJ, Lucas ES, Fleming TP. Impact of the periconceptional environment on the programming of adult disease. J Dev Orig Health Dis 2010;1(2):87–95.
- [5] McMillen IC, MacLaughlin SM, Muhlhausler BS, Gentili S, Duffield JL, Morrison JL. Developmental origins of adult health and disease: the role of periconceptional and foetal nutrition. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 2008;102 (2):82–9
- [6] Godfrey KM, Lillycrop KA, Burdge GC, Gluckman PD, Hanson MA. Epigenetic mechanisms and the mismatch concept of the developmental origins of health and disease. Pediatr Res 2007;61(5):5R–10R.
- [7] World Health Organization. WHO traditional medicine strategy 2014–2023. (2013-12) [2018-11-10]. http://www.who.int/medicines/publications/traditional/trm\_strategy14\_23/en/.
- [8] Soltanian AR, Mehdibarzi D, Faghihzadeh S, Naseri M, Gerami A. Mixture of Arnebia euchroma and Matricaria chamomilla (Marhame-Mafasel) for pain relief of osteoarthritis of the knee—a two-treatment, two-period crossover trial. Arch Med Sci 2010:6(6):950–5.
- [9] Ahmadi A, Mohagheghi M, Karimi M, Golestanha Seyed Ali, Naseri M. Anticancer effects of HESA-A in patients with metastatic colon cancer. Integr Cancer Ther 2009;1(8):71–4.
- [10] Nozad A, Naseri M, Safari MB, Abd Al Ahadi A, Ghaffari F. Food reduction in Avicenna's view and related principles in classical medicine. Iran Red Crescent Med 2016;18(6):e25760.

- [11] Ghaffari F, Naseri M, Asghari M, Naseri V. Abul-hasan al-tabari: a review of his views and works. Arch of Iran Med 2014:4(17):299–301.
- [12] Moosavi J. The place of Avicenna in the history of medicine. Avicenna J Med Biotechnol 2009;1(1):3.
- [13] Kushi LH, Byers T, Doyle C, Bandera EV, McCullough M, Gansler T, et al. American Cancer Society guidelines on nutrition and physical activity for cancer prevention: reducing the risk of cancer with healthy food choices and physical activity. CA Cancer | Clin 2006;56(5):254–81.
- [14] Gonzalez-Campoy J, Jeor SS, Castorino K, Ebrahim A, Hurley D, Jovanovic L, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for healthy eating for the prevention and treatment of metabolic and endocrine diseases in adults: cosponsored by the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists/the American College of Endocrinology and the Obesity Society: executive summary. Endocr Pract 2013:19(5):875-87.
- [15] Eckel RH, Jakicic JM, Ard JD, De Jesus JM, Houston Miller N, Hubbard VS, et al. 2013 AHA/ACC guideline on lifestyle management to reduce cardiovascular risk: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014;129(25 Suppl. 2):S76–99.
- [16] Dunn PM. Avicenna (AD 980–1037) and Arabic perinatal medicine. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 1997;77(1):F75–6.
- [17] Ibn-e-Sina AH. The canon of medicine (Al-Qanun fit-tib). Volume 3. Corrected by Beirut SE. Beirut: Alaalami Beirut library Press 2005:371–467 [Arabic].
- [18] Nathan B, Mikhail M. Avicenna's recipe for contraception. BJOG 1991;98 (12):1303.
- [19] Tajik N, Zargaran A, Kermani-Alghoraishi M. The heart in embryology. Eur Heart J 2018;39(3):191–2.
- [20] Mobli M, Qaraaty M, Amin G, Haririan I, Hajimahmoodi M, Rahimi R. Scientific evaluation of medicinal plants used for the treatment of abnormal uterine bleeding by Avicenna. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2015;292(1):21–35.
- [21] Green MH, Smail DL. The trial of Floreta d'Ays (1403): Jews, Christians, and obstetrics in later medieval Marseille. J Mediev Hist 2008;34(2):185–211.
- [22] Magdi I. Obstetric injuries of the perineum. J Obstet Gynecol 1942;49 (6):687-700.
- [23] Ibn-e-Sina AH. The canon of medicine (Al-Qanun fit-tib). Tehran: Almaei Press; 2012. Corrected by Masoudi A [Arabic].
- [24] Kazemeini SK, Emtiazy M, Owlia F, Khani P. Causes of infertility in view of Iranian traditional medicine: a review. Int J Reprod Biomed 2017;15 (4):187-94
- [25] Fleming T, Velazquez M, Eckert J, Lucas E, Watkins A. Nutrition of females during the peri-conceptional period and effects on foetal programming and health of offspring. Anim Reprod Sci 2012;130(3):193–7.
- [26] Watkins AJ, Fleming TP. Blastocyst environment and its influence on offspring cardiovascular health: the heart of the matter. J Anat 2009;215(1):52–9.
- [27] Nader PR, Huang TT, Gahagan S, Kumanyika S, Hammond RA, Christoffel KK. Next steps in obesity prevention: altering early life systems to support healthy parents, infants, and toddlers. Child Obes 2012;8(3):195–204.
- [28] Siahpoosh M, Ebadiani M, Hosseini GS, Isfahani M, Nasrabadi AN, Dadgostar H. Avicenna: the first to describe diseases which may be prevented by exercise. Iran | Public Health 2012;41(11):98–101.
- [29] Siahpoosh M, Ebadiani M, Shah Hosseini G, Nejatbakhsh F. Ancient theory about public health through physical activity against hyperlipidemia and ischemic heart disease. Iran J Public Health 2012;41(10):103–4.
- [30] Carmichael SL, Shaw GM, Neri E, Schaffer DM, Selvin S. Physical activity and risk of neural tube defects. Matern Child Health J 2002;6(3):151–7.
- [31] Butler CL, Williams MA, Sorensen TK, Frederick IO, Leisenring WM. Relation between maternal recreational physical activity and plasma lipids in early pregnancy. Am | Epidemiol 2004;160(4):350–9.
- [32] Esteban-Cornejo I, Martinez-Gomez D, Tejero-González CM, Izquierdo-Gomez R, Carbonell-Baeza A, Castro-Piñero J, et al. Maternal physical activity before and during the prenatal period and the offspring's academic performance in youth. The UP&DOWN study. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2016;29 (9):1414–20
- [33] Shahabi S, Hassan ZM, Mahdavi M, Dezfouli M, Rahvar MT, Naseri M, et al. Hot and cold natures and some parameters of neuroendocrine and immune systems in traditional Iranian medicine: a preliminary study. J Altern Complement Med 2008;14(2):147–56.
- [34] Zenk JL, Leikam SA, Kassen LJ, Kuskowski MA. Effect of lean system 7 on metabolic rate and body composition. Nutrition 2005;21(2):179–85
- metabolic rate and body composition. Nutrition 2005;21(2):179–85.

  [35] Reanmongkol W, Janthasoot W, Wattanatorn W, Dhumma-Upakorn P, Chudapongse P. Effects of piperine on bioenergetic functions of isolated rat liver mitochondria. Biochem Pharmacol 1988;37(4):753–7.
- [36] Ludy MJ, Mattes RD. The effects of hedonically acceptable red pepper doses on thermogenesis and appetite. Physiol Behav 2011;102(3-4):251-8.
- [37] Williams P. Nutritional composition of red meat. Nutr Diet 2007;64(S4):S113-9.
- [38] McAfee AJ, McSorley EM, Cuskelly GJ, Moss BW, Wallace JM, Bonham MP, et al. Red meat consumption: an overview of the risks and benefits. Meat Sci 2010:84(1):1–13.
- [39] Kourkouta L, Koukourikos K, Iliadis C, Ouzounakis P, Monios A, Tsaloglidou A. Bread and health. J Pharm Pharmacol 2017;5(11):821–6.
- [40] Hassan EG, Alkareem AM, Mustafa AM. Effect of fermentation and particle size of wheat bran on the antinutritional factors and bread quality. Pak J Nutr 2008;7(4):521–6.
- [41] Barolo MI, Ruiz N, Mostacero, López SN. Ficus carica L. (Moraceae): an ancient source of food and health. Food Chem 2014;164:119–27.
- [42] Georgiev V, Ananga A, Tsolova V. Recent advances and uses of grape flavonoids as nutraceuticals. Nutrients 2014;6(1):391–415.

- [43] Calapai G, Bonina F, Bonina A, Rizza L, Mannucci C, Arcoraci V, et al. A randomized, double-blinded, clinical trial on effects of a *Vitis vinifera* extract on cognitive function in healthy older adults. Front Pharmacol 2017;8:776.
- [44] Kind KL, Moore VM, Davies MJ. Diet around conception and during pregnancy—effects on fetal and neonatal outcomes. Reprod Biomed Online 2006;12(5):532–41.
- [45] Mahan LK, Raymond J. Krause's food & the nutrition care process-14th. (2016-05) [2018-11-17]. https://www.elsevier.com/books/krauses-food-and-the-nutrition-care-process/978-0-323-34075-5.
- [46] Dunford AR, Sangster JM. Maternal and paternal periconceptional nutrition as an indicator of offspring metabolic syndrome risk in later life through epigenetic imprinting: a systematic review. Diabetes Metab Syndr Clin Res Rev 2017;11(2):S655–62.
- [47] Watkins AJ, Lucas ES, Wilkins A, Cagampang FR, Fleming TP. Maternal periconceptional and gestational low protein diet affects mouse offspring growth, cardiovascular and adipose phenotype at 1 year of age. PLoS One 2011;6(12):e28745.
- [48] de Weerd S, Steegers-Theunissen RP, de Boo TM, Thomas CM, Steegers EA. Maternal periconceptional biochemical and hematological parameters, vitamin profiles and pregnancy outcome. Eur J Clin Nutr 2003;57(9):1128–34.
- [49] Zhang S, Rattanatray L, McMillen I, Suter C, Morrison J. Periconceptional nutrition and the early programming of a life of obesity or adversity. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 2011;106(1):307–14.
- [50] Shaw GM, Carmichael SL, Yang W, Lammer EJ. Periconceptional nutrient intakes and risks of conotruncal heart defects. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol 2010;88(3):144–51.
- [51] Shaw GM, Quach T, Nelson V, Carmichael SL, Schaffer DM, Selvin S, et al. Neural tube defects associated with maternal periconceptional dietary intake of simple sugars and glycemic index. Am J Clin Nutr 2003;78(5):972–8.
- [52] Imdad A, Yakoob MY, Bhutta ZA. The effect of folic acid, protein energy and multiple micronutrient supplements in pregnancy on stillbirths. BMC Public Health 2011;11(Suppl. 3):S4.
- [53] Fleming TP, Watkins AJ, Sun C, Velazquez MA, Smyth NR, Eckert JJ. Do little embryos make big decisions? How maternal dietary protein restriction can permanently change an embryo's potential, affecting adult health. Reprod Fertil Dev 2015;27(4):684–92.
- [54] Bouwland-Both MI, Steegers-Theunissen RP, Vujkovic M, Lesaffre EM, Mook-Kanamori DO, Hofman A, et al. A periconceptional energy-rich dietary pattern is associated with early fetal growth: the Generation R study. BJOG 2013;120 (4):435–45.
- [55] Krapels IP, van Rooij IA, Ocké MC, West CE, van der Horst CM, Steegers-Theunissen RP. Maternal dietary B vitamin intake, other than folate, and the association with orofacial cleft in the offspring. Eur J Nutr 2004;134 (11):3106–13.
- [56] Gårdebjer E, Cuffe J, Pantaleon M, Wlodek M, Moritz K. Periconceptional alcohol consumption causes fetal growth restriction and increases glycogen accumulation in the late gestation rat placenta. Placenta 2014;35 (1):50-7.
- [57] Li Z, Zhang L, Jin L, Ye R, Raynes-Greenow C, Ren A. Poor sleep during the periconceptional period increases risk for neural tube defects in offspring. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol 2015;103(9):780-6.
- [58] Boyko EJ, Seelig AD, Jacobson IG, Hooper TI, Smith B, Smith TC, et al. Sleep characteristics, mental health, and diabetes risk: a prospective study of U.S. military service members in the Millennium Cohort Study. Diabetes Care 2013;36(10):3154–61.
- [59] Cetin I, Berti C, Calabrese S. Role of micronutrients in the periconceptional period. Hum Reprod Update 2009;16(1):80–95.
- [60] Fenster L, Katz DF, Wyrobek AJ, Pieper C, Rempel DM, Oman D, et al. Effects of psychological stress on human semen quality. J Androl 1997;18(2):194–202
- psychological stress on human semen quality. J Androl 1997;18(2):194–202. [61] Fenster L, Waller K, Chen J, Hubbard AE, Windham GC, Elkin E, et al. Psychological stress in the workplace and menstrual function. Am J Epidemiol 1999;149(2):127–34.
- [62] Wolf J, Armstrong B. The association of season and temperature with adverse pregnancy outcome in two German states, a time-series analysis. PLoS One 2012;7(7):e40228.
- [63] Suarez L, Felkner M, Hendricks K. The effect of fever, febrile illnesses, and heat exposures on the risk of neural tube defects in a Texas-Mexico border population. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol 2004;70(10):815–9.
- [64] Murray LJ, O'reilly D, Betts N, Patterson C, Smith GD, Evans A. Season and outdoor ambient temperature: effects on birth weight. Obstet Gynecol 2000:96(5):689–95.
- [65] Puska P. Successful prevention of non-communicable diseases: 25 year experiences with North Karelia Project in Finland. Public Health Med 2002;4 (1):5-7
- [66] Steel AJ, Sutcliffe A. Long-term health implications for children conceived by IVF/ICSI. Hum Fertil 2009;12(1):21–7.
- [67] Bonduelle M, Wennerholm UB, Loft A, Tarlatzis BC, Peters C, Henriet S, et al. A multi-centre cohort study of the physical health of 5-year-old children conceived after intracytoplasmic sperm injection, in vitro fertilization and natural conception. Hum Reprod 2005;20(2):413–9.
- [68] Hansen M, Bower C, Milne É, de Klerk N, Kurinczuk JJ. Assisted reproductive technologies and the risk of birth defects—a systematic review. Hum Reprod 2005;20(2):328–38.
- [69] Helmerhorst FM, Perquin DA, Donker D, Keirse MJ. Perinatal outcome of singletons and twins after assisted conception: a systematic review of controlled studies. BMJ 2004;328(7434):261.

- [70] Davies MJ, Moore VM, Willson KJ, Van Essen P, Priest K, Scott H, et al. Reproductive technologies and the risk of birth defects. N Engl J Med 2012;366 (19):1803-13.
- [71] Nejatbakhsh F, Shirbeigi L, Rahimi R, Abolhassani H. Review of local herbal compounds found in the Iranian traditional medicine known to optimise male fertility. Andrologia 2016;48(8):850-9.
- [72] Eisenberg ML, Li S, Behr B, Cullen MR, Galusha D, Lamb DJ, et al. Semen quality, infertility and mortality in the USA. Hum Reprod 2014;29(7):1567–74.
  [73] Matzuk MM, Lamb DJ. The biology of infertility: research advances and clinical challenges. Nat Med 2008;14(11):1197–213.
- [74] Li Y, Lin H, Li Y, Cao J. Association between socio-psycho-behavioral factors and male semen quality: systematic review and meta-analyses. Fertil Steril 2011;95(1):116-23.
- [75] Meeker JD, Godfrey-Bailey L, Hauser R. Relationships between serum hormone levels and semen quality among men from an infertility clinic. J Androl 2007;28(3):397-406.
- [76] Laughlin GA, Barrett-Connor E, Bergstrom J. Low serum testosterone and mortality in older men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008;93(1):68-75.
- [77] Osorio J. Bringing about lifestyle change. Nat Rev Cardiol 2010;7(10):537.